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MAR (r2009
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA

u.s. COMMODITY FUTURES TRAING )COMMISSION, )
)
)
)
)
)

JOHN M. DONNELLY, TOWER ANAL YSiSj
TNe., NASCa TANG CORP., and NADIA )
CAPITAL CORP., )

)
)
)

BLUE LOGIC OPERATING PARTNERS LP,)
NADLA CAPITAL OPERATING )
PARTNERS LP, and )
DEBORAH B. DONNELLY, j

)
)

Plaintiff,

v.

Defendants, and

ReI ief Defendants.

JOHN F. CO~~AKBY: .
DEP

CIVIL ACTION NO.: 3 :Oq-ftl-(!oo/¿n

COMPLAINT FOR INJUCTIVE AND
OTHER EQUITABLE RELIEF AND FOR
CIVIL PENALTIES lJNDER THE
COMMODITY EXCHANGE ACT, AS
AMENDED, 7 U.S.C. §§1-25

Plaintiff, Commodity Futures Trading Commission ("Commission" or "CFTC"), by its

attorneys, alleges as follows:

i. SUMMARY

1. From at least 2001 though the present ("relevant period"), Defendants John M.

Donnelly ("Donnelly"), Tower Analysis Inc. ("Tower Analysis"), Nasca Tang Corp. ("Nasca

Tang") and Nadia Capital Corp. ("Nadia Capital") fraudulently solicited and accepted milions of

dollars from at least 30 individuals and entities to paricipate in one or more commodity pools to

trade commodity futures contracts, including U.S. Treasury bond and note, S&P 500 index and

NASDAQ 100 index futures.
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2. Claiming to successfully employ lessons !earned from his experience in

astrophysics and "algorithms derived from the quantification of a fractal wave frequency model,"

Donnelly, acting as an unregistered conuodity pool operator ("CPO") and President of 
Tower

Analysis, Nasca Tang, and Nadia Capital, omitted material facts, including that Donrelly was

misappropriating pool paricipants' funds, and made material misrepresentations, including

misrepresenting that he traded pool participants' funds in index futures eontracts, when in reality,

he traded very little of paricipans' funds.

3. Recently, Donnelly confessed that he never really traded pool participants' funds,

purportedly duc to some form of men tat incapacity. Donnelly furter confessed ihat he used

pool participants' funds to pay principal and purported profitable returns 10 existing pool

paricipants in a maer typical of a Ponzi scheme, as well as pay business expenses, which

induded approximately $1,000,000 paid to Donnelly as "salary."

4. To conceal rus fraudulent scheme and misappropriation, Donnclly issued or

caused to be issued false monthly statements and other reports. These reports falsely rcflcctcd

profitable returns from the pool's purported trading activity and that the pool participants'

investments were increa'5ing in value.

5. Contrar to his representations to pool parieipants that he traded pool funds (and,

bizarrely, contrary to his recent confession that he never traded anything), Donnelly, in reality,

traded only a small fraction of pool participant funds in commodity futures trading accounts for

the pooL.

6_ Though his ongoing conduct, Donnelly has engaged, is engaged, or is about to

engage in acts and practices in violation of the anti-fraud provisions of Seciions 4b(a)(2) and

42.(1) of the Commodity Exchange Act (the "Act"), 7 U.S.e. §§ 6(b)(a)(2) and 6Q.(1) (2006), and
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Section 4b(a)(I) of tile Act as amended by the Food, Conservation, ánd Energy Act of2008, Pub.

L. No. 110-246, Title Xl1 (the CFTC Reauthorization Act ("eRA")), § 13l02, 122 Stat. 1651

(effective June 18,2008), to be codified at 7 U.S.C. § 6(b)(a)(1). Donnelly also acted as a CPO

of the commodity pools without being registered as such in violation of Section 4m( 1) of the

Act, 7 V.S.C. § 6m(1) (2006).

7. At all times relevant and in regard to all conduct alleged herein, Donnelly was an

agent of Tower Analysis, Nasca Tang, and Nadia Capital and acted within the scope of his

employment. As such, Tower Analysis, Nasco Tang and Nadia Capital arc liable for Donnetiy's

conduct pursuant to Section 2(a)(1 )(B) of the Act, 7 V.S.C- § 2(a)(I)(B) (2006).

8. Thc Relief Defendants arc not charged with any violation of law but with having

obtained funds to which they are not entitled and which were derived from the Defendants

violations ofthc Act.

9. Accordingly, pursuant to Section 6c of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13(1-1 (2006), the

Commission brings this action to enjoin Defendants' wilawful acts and practices and to compel

their compliance with the Act. Tn addition, the Commission seeks civil monetar penaltics and

other cquitable relief, including restitution to pool participants, disgorgcment of Defendants' and

RelierDefendants' il-gotten gains, a permanent trading ban and such oÙler relief 
as the Court

may deem necessar or appropriate.

10. Unless permanently re~trained and enjoined by the Court, Defendants are likely to

continue to engage in thc ilegal acts and practices alleged in this Complaint, as more fully

described below.
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lJ. .JURJSOrCTION AND VENUE

ll. The Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Section 6c ofthc Act,

7 U.S.C. § 13a-l (2006), which authorizes the Commission to seek injunctive relietagainst any

person whenever it shall appear to the Commission that such person has engaged, is engaging, or

is about to engage in any aet or practice constituting a violation o(any provision of 
the Act or

any rule, regulation, or order thereunder.

12. Venue properly lies with this Court pursuant to Section 6c(e) of 
the Act,

7 U.S.C. § l3a-1(c) (2006), in that Defendants are found in, inhabit, Or transact business in this

Disrrict, and the acts and praetices in violation otthe Act have occurred, are occuring, or are

about to occur within this Distict, among other places.

lIT. PARTIES

PLAINTIFF

13. Plaintiff Commodity Futures Trading Commission is a federal independent

regulatory agency charged with the administration and enforcement of 
the Act, 7 U.S.C. §§ 1 et

seq. (2006), and the Regulations thcrewider, 17 C.F.R. §§ 1.1 et seq. (2008).

DEFENDANTS

l4. Defendant John M. Donnelly is an individual who resides in Charlottesvile

Virginia. Donnelly is the founder and acts as the President of 
Tower Analysis Inc. and

controlled the day to day operations ofa pool known as the "Tower Fund." Donnelly is the

founder and acts as the President ofNasco Tang Corp. and controls the day to day operation:: of

a pool known as the "Blue Logic Fund." Donnelly is the founder and acts as the President of

Nadia Capital Corp. and controls the day to day operations of a pool known as the "Nadia

-4.
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Capital Parners Fund." Donnelly has never been ægistered with the Commission as a CPO or in

any other capacity.

15. Defendant Tower Analysis Inc. was incorporated in Virginia in 1995 and has

operated out of 600 E. Water Street, Suite F, and 206 E. Market Street, Charlottesville, Virginia.

Tower Analysis has never been registered with the Commission as a CPO or in any other

capacity.

16. Defendant Nasco Tang Corp. was incorporated in Virginia in 2004 and operates

out of600 E. Watcr Street, Suite F, Charlottesville, Virginia. Nasco Tang is the general parner

of the Relief Defendant Blue Logic Operating Parters LP. Naseo Tang has never been

registered with the Commission as a CPO or in any other capacity.

17. Defendant Nadia Capital Corp. was incorporated in Virginia in 2008 and

operates out of600 E. Water Street, Suite F, Charlottesville Virginia. Nadia Capital Corp. is the

general partner of the Relief Defendant Nadia Capital Operating Parers Ll. Nadia Capital

Corp. has never been registered with the Commission as a CPO or in any other capacity.

RELIEF DEFENDANTS

18. Relief Defendant Blue Logic Operating Partners LP ("Blue Logic") is a

parnership formed in Virgirua in 2005 with its principal place of business at 600 East Water St.,

Suite F, Charlottesville, Virginia, and operates as a commodity pooL. Defendant Nasco Tang is

the general partner of Blue Logic.

19. Relief Defendant Nadia Capital Operating Partners LP ("Nadia Capita

Parners") is a parership fom1ed in Virginia in 2008 with its principal place of business at 600

East Water St, Suite F, CharlottcsviUc, Virginia, and operates as a commodity pooL Defendant

-5-
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Nadia Capital is the general parlner of Nadia Capital Partners. Since late 2008, Donnelly has

been soliciting new investors for Nadia Capital Partners.

20. Relief Defendant Deborah B. Oonncl1y is an individual residing in

Charlottsvile, Virginia. Ms. Donnelly is the wife of Defendant John M. Donnelly.

iv. FACTS

Formation and Operation of the Pools

21. Section la(5) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § la(4) (2006), defines a "commodity pool

operator" as any person engaged in a business that is or the nature of an investment trust,

syndicate, or similar form of enterprise and in connection therewith, has solicitcd, accepted or

received funds, securities or property from others for the purpose of trading in any corrodity

for future delivery on or subject to the rules ofany contract market or derivatives transaction

execution facility. A commodity pool operator serves as a lïc.uciary lo pool participants.

22. Since at least 1998, Donnelly has fraudulently operated at least three commodity

pools: the Tower Fund, the Blue Logic Fund, and Nadia Capital Partners Fund.

23. TIoughout the relevant period, Donnelly operated these pools as a Ponzi scheme

and misappropriated funds from the pools. Thoughout the entire period when Donnelly

accepted money from paricipants for purposes of investing in the corrodity trading pools,

neither Donnelly, Tower Analysis, Nasco Tang, nOT Nadia Capital were registered in any

capacity with the National Futures Association ("Nl A") or the Commission.

24. Since at least 1998, Donnelly solicited pool paricipants for the Tower Fund.

Donnelly appears to have initially solicited fuds from friends and acquaintances. Ultimately, al

least 30 individuals and entities invested with Donnelly, Towcr Analysis and its successor fund

Blue Logic.
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25. Although the conditions of operation were never fonnalized between Donnelly,

Tower i\alysis and the Tower Fund paricipants, it appears that Donnelly promised to take as

compensation only 60% ufthe earnings otthe Tower Fund. Donnelly represented to Tower

Fund pool participants that he would trade commodily futures contracts with pool funds,

specifically U.S. Treasury bond and note, S&P 500 index and NASDAQ 100 index futures.

26. From at least May 2005, Donnelly and Nasco Tang solicited pool participants for

the Blue Logic Fund. Donnelly also transferred most of the Tower Fund paricipants to the Blue

Logic Fund during this time period. In limitcd partnership agrccments sent to the pool

paricipants for signature, Dorielly promised Blue Logie pool participants that Nasco Tang

would tae only 60%1 of the pools eamÍiigs. Donnelly represented to Blue Logic pool participants

that he would trade commodity futures contracts with pool funds, specifically U.S. Treasury

bond and note, S&P 500 indcx and NASDAQ 100 index futures.

27. Since at least 1999, Donnelly has controlled commodity futures trading accounts

in the name of Tower Analysis at Rosenthal Collins Group LLC ("Rosenthal Collins"), a FCM

registered with the CFTC, and MF Global Inc., another FCM registered with the CFTC. It

appears that Donnelly used the Tower Analysis FCM accounts in connection with not only the

operation of the Tower Fund, but also the Blue Logic Fund.

28. Donnelly maintained a futures trading account in the name of Tower Analysis at

Rosenthal Collins from i 999 through 200 1. According to Rosenthal Collins, very few futures

trades took place in the accounL Records of specific transactions in this account are no longer

available.
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29. Donnelly maintained two FCM accounts in the name of To;~ier Analysis at MF

Global during the following time peri()d~: l

. MF Global *2236: June 2001 through November 2008; and

. MF Global * l5ll: June 2005 through November 2008.

30. From 2001 through 2008, a total of$8,732,32 1.93 was deposited into the Tower

Analysis fCM accounts at MF GlobaL. On information and belief, the source of thesc funds was

from Tower Fund, Blue Logic Fund, and/or Nadia Capital Partncrs pool participants.

31. From 2001 though 2008, Donnelly withdrew a total of$9,077,456.07 from the

Tower Analysis FCM accounts.i \Vile it appears that a portion of 
these withdrawals went to

either Tower Fund pool participants or Blue Logic Fund pool participants, sizeable amounts of

funds ultimately were transmirtcd to Donnelly and Nasca Tang, the cntity owned and controlled

by Donnelly.

32. Apart from the Tower Fund and Blue Logic Fund solicitations, from at least

September 2008, DonneHy and a new entity created by him, Nadia Capital, have solicited pool

participants to deposit funds with Nadia Capital Partners, for the purpose of trading U-S.

Treasury bond and note futures, S&P 500 index futures and NASDAQ 100 index futures.

Similar to the terms of operation for the Tower Fund and the Blue Logic Fund, Donnelly and

Nadia Capital promise Nadia Capital Partners pool participants that Nadia Capital will take only

50% of the earnings of the pool as sole compensation for the operation otthe pooL.

i The accounts were originally opened with REFCO LLC, which was bought by Man Financial Inc., which waS

evenrually spun off into MF Global, Inc.

z Doruclly maintained large amounts of cash iii the futures trading accounts even thougli he, for the most part, did

no rradmg in those accounts. Over time, the account~ eamed $375,249.86 in interest. Thus, Donnelly was able (0
withdraw a greater amomit than he deposited into the accounts.
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Additionally, Donnelly and Nadia Capital promised to trade 20% orihe funds deposited by thcre

pool parieipants who enter into loan agreements with Nadia CapitaL.

33. From October 2008 to the present, Donnelly has maintained one FCM account at

Rosenthal Collins in the name of Nadia Capital, purortedly to execute futures trades on behalf

of the pool participants.

34. Since opening the account, Donnelly dcpositcd a total of$525,OOO in the Nadia

Capital account at RosenLhal Collins and wiLhdrawn $333,000.

35. A certin portion ofthc pool paricipants' funds solicited and received by the

Defendants were invested or deposited with Tower Fund and Relief Detendants Blue Logic and

Nadia Capital Parer. A certin portion of 
the pool participants' funds solicited and received

by the Defendants were (ransIerroo to or used for the benefit of 
Relief Defendant Deborah B.

Donnelly.

Donnelly's Fraudulent Solicitations

36. From at least 2001 to the present, Donnelly directly and indirectly fraudulently

solicited millions of dollars from at least 30 individuals or entities to invest in the commodity

pools he operated, including at least one parcipant who deposited approximately $11,000,000.

37. Donnelly falscly rcprcsentcd to Tower Fund and Blue Logic pool participants that

he and/or Tower Analysis, or Nasca Tang would take as sole compensation 60% ofthc earings

of the pool. He also represented to Nadia Capital Partners pool participants that Nadia Capital

Corp. would tae as sole compensation 50% of 
the earings ofthc pool. Donnelly utilized the

U.S. mail and other method~ of interstate commerce to transmit these representations to pool

participants. It appears that Donnclly withdrew approximately $1,000,000 from pool

participants' fuds as pcrsonal compensation and may have withdrawn an additional $1.7 million
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in compensation through Nasco Tang. Donnelly was not entitled to any funds because he failcd

to trade according to the terms and condiiions agreed upon.

38. Alternatively, although the pools Donnelly operated did actually earn a modest

retwn based upon the interest paid into the aecounts by the FCMs, Dorielly was not entitled to

the vast amount of funds he paid to himself because the interest payments merely generated less

than 1% in earnings. Consequently, at most Donnelly was entitled to $270,015.55 durng the

relevant period.

39. During the relevant period, Donnelly omit1ed thc material fact that he

misappropriated pool paricipants' funds by paying himself 
a salary and other compensation

from those funds and using the funds to pay oiher investors.

40. During the relevant period, Donnelly falsely represented to Tower Fund, Blue

Logic Fund, ami Nadia Capital Parners pool participants that he generated monthly and annual

returns exceeding the amount generated by the iiiterest payments made by the FCMs. Donnelly

utilized the U.S. mail and other methods of interstate coinerce to transmit these statements and

representations to pool participants. For example, Donnelly represented to at least one pool

participant that his trading generated the following arual rctums:

2002 25.72%
2004 23.53%
2005 20.99%
2006 18.56%
2007 15.55%
9.01.08 8.66%

41. Donnelly falsely rcpresented to Tower Fwid and Blue Logic fund pool

participants that he would trade commodity futures contracts with pool funds, specifically U.S.

Treasury bond and note, S&P 500 index and NASDAQ 100 index futures. Donnelly utilized the

-10-
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U.S. mail and other methods of 
interstate commerce to transmit these statements and

representations to pool paricipants.

42. Similarly, Donnelly falsely represented to Nadia Capital Partners pool participants

that each day he would trade 20% of funds deposited in the Nadia Capital Parncrs pool.

Donnelly utilized the U.S. mail and other methods of interstate commerce to transmit these

statements and representations to pool partieipants.

43. Contrary to these claims, Donnelly only rarely executed trades. Indeed, according

to Donnelly, as a result of some significant trauma he experienced in the past, Donnelly could

never quitc bring himself to execute trades. From at least June 200 ito the present, the fCM

accounts rel1ect that in reality Donnelly only traded on 7 days out of 
the 92 months the Tower

Analysis and Nadia Capital trading accounts wei:e open. Moreover, since beginning the Nadia

Capital Partners Fund, Donnelly has not executed cven one trade in that account.

44. Donnelly failed to disclose to the pool participants that he did not trade their fuds

in accordance with the terms and conditions agreed upon.

Donnelly's Misappropriation and Confession

45. From January 29 through February 9,2009, Donnelly eonfessed to at least one

participant that he did not engage in the trading activity he had claimed. SpecificaUy, Donnelly

told the paricipant that he had mental problems which prevented him from executing trades.

DonneHy further confessed that thoughout the lives of 
his commodity pools, he used pool

participant funds to pay other pool paricipants.

46. As noted above in paragraph 35, Donnelly misappropriated pool participants'

funds by withdrawing at least $1,000,000 ofpool participants' funds to which he was not

entitled. It appears that a portion of these funds went toward all, or some, orthe purchase of
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Donnelly's, and his wife Deborah's, primary re5idence. Donnelly further misappropriated pool

participants' funds by paying principal and purported profitable returns to existing pool

participants in a manner typical of a Ponzi scheme.

Donnelly's Issuance of False Account Statements

47. From the inception of 
the pools, Donnelly issued monthly account statements to

pool participants. for exmnple, in monthly sttements to one pool paricipant, Donnelly

represented the following monthly returs:

Month
"Monthly %

Earned"
April 2006 1.471 %

May 200?_ 2.344%
i,--

June 2006 1.721%-,..
July 2006 1.635% ----,-
August 2006 0.984%

Septc:mber 2006 1.127%

October 2006 2.002%

November 2006 1.686%

December 2006 1.923%

January 2007 1.8635

Febmar 2007 1.331 %

March 2007 2.186%

"-~Qril 2007 2.025%
May 2007 1.039%

June 2007 2.083%

July 2007 l.448%

August 2007 0.747%

September 2007 0%

October 2007 0%

November 2007 0%--
December 2007 1.2%
January 2008 1.124%

0--
Febniary 2008 0%

March 2008 O.72l%-_.
1.518%April 2008 

May 2008 1.l92r~._I-
June 2008 1.485%

July 2008 1.460%

August 2008 1.028%

-12-
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I September 2008 1.260%
October 2008 0.741%. ..,,_''0,,_-
November 2008 1.51%
December 2008 0.981%
January 2009 1.100%

48. The returns stated in the monthly account statements issued by Donnelly were

false because Donnelly did not earn profits in the small amount of 
trading he did in the pools'

FCM accounts and earned less than 1 % per month in interest in the FCM accounts during that

time.

V. VIOLATIONS O'F THR ACT

COUNT ONE

Fraud in Connection with Futures Contracts

(Violations of Section 40(20)(2) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(2) (2006), and Section 4b(a)(l) of
the Act as amended by the CRA to be codifed at 7 U.s.c. § 6b(a)(1))

49. Paragraphs i through 48 are reallegcd and incorporated herein.

50. Sections 4b(a)(2)(i)-(iii) of the Act, 7 V.S.c. §§ 6b(a)(2)(i)-(iii) (2006), make it

unlawful for any person to cheat or defraud or attempt to cheat or defraud; or wilfully make or

cause to be made to other persons false reports or statements, or willfully enter or cause to be

entered for other persons false records; or wiHfully deceive or attempt to deceive by any means

whatsoever other persons in or in eonnection with orders to make, or the making of, contracts of

sale of commodities, for future delivery, made, or to be made, for or on behalf of such other

persons where such contracts for future delivery were or may have been used for (a) hedging any

transaction in interstate commerce in such eommodity, or the produce or bypro 
ducts thereof: or

(b) detennining the price basis of any transaction in i nierstate commerce in such commodity, or

-13-
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(c) delivering any such commodity sold, shipped or received in interstate commerce for the

fulfiUment thereof.

5 i. Sections 4b(a)(1 )(A)-(C) of the Act as amended by the eRA, to be codified at 7

U.S.C. §§ 6b(a)(1)(A)-(C), make it unlawfl for any person, in or in connection with any order to

make, or the making of, any contract of sale of any corrodity in interstate commerce or for

future delivery that is made, or to bc made, on or subject to the rules of a designated contract

market, for or on behalf of any other person - (A) to cheat or defraud or attempt to cheat or

defraud the other person; (13) willfully to make or cause to be made to the other person any false

report or statement or wilfully to enter or cause to be entered for thc othcr person any false

record; or (C) willfully to deceive or attcmpt to deceive the other person by any mcans

whatsoever in rcgard to any order or contract or the disposition or execution of any order or

contract, Qr in regard to any act of agency performed, with respect to any order or contract for the

other person.

52. As alleged above, during the relevant period, Donnelly knowingly, willully or

with reckless disregard for thc truth, violated Sections 4b(a)(2)(i)-(iii) of 
the Act, 7 U.S.C.

§§ 6b(a)(2)(i)-(iii) (2006), with respect to acts occurrng before June 18,2008, and in violation of

Sections 4b(a)(l)(A)-(C) ofthc Aet as amended by the CRA, to bc codified at 7 U.S.C.

§§ 6b(a)(l)(A)-(C), with respect to acts occurring on or after June 18,2008, the effective date of

the CRA by, among other things, (1) omitting material information, including the fact that he

was misappropriating pool paricipant funds; (2) falsely representing that he was generating

profits from his trading on behalf of the pool and pool participants; (3) issuing or causing to be

issued false account statements and reports reflecting positive returns for the pool and increases

in the value ûfindividual pool participants' interests; (4) llsappropriating pool participant funds
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by using such funùs to pay principal and purported returnS to other pool participants; and (5)

misappropriating pool participant funds to pay business expenses and for personal use.

53. Donnelly was acting as an agent ofTower Analysis when he violated the Act and,

therefore, Tower Analysis, as Donnelly's principal, is liable for Donnelly's vioLations of 
Sections

4b(a)(2)(i)-(iii) ofthc Act, 7 U.S.C. §§ 6b(a)(2)(i)-(iii) (2006), with respect to acts occurring

before June 18, 2008, and for Donnelly's violations of Sections 4b(a)(l )(A)-(C) of 
the Act a~

amended by the eRA, to be codified at 7 U.S.C. §§ 6b(a)(1)(A)-(C), with respect to acts

occurrng on or after June 18,2008, pursuant to Section 2(a)(I)(B) of 
the Act, 7 U.S.C. §

2(a)(l)(B) (2006).

54. Donnelly was acting as an agent ofNasco Tang when he violated the Act and,

therefore, Nasco Tang, as Donnelly's principal, is liable for Donnelly's violatIon~ of Sections

4b(a)(2)(i)-(iii) olthe Act, 7 U.S.C. §§ 6b(a)(2)(i)-(iii) (2006), with respect to acts occurring

before June 18, 2008, and for Donnelly's violations of Sections 4b(a)( 1 )(A)-(C) of the Act as

amended by the CRA, to be codified at 7 U.S.C. §§ 6b(a)(1)(A)-(C), with respect to acts

occurring on or after June 18,2008, pursuant to Section 2(a)(l)(B) of 
the Act, 7 U.sC. §

2(a)(1)(B) (2006).

55. Donnelly was acting as an agent of Nadia Capital when he violated the Act and,

therefore, Nadia Capital, as Donnelly's principal, is liable for Donnelly's violations of Sections

4b(a)(2)(i)-(iii) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. §§ 6b(a)(2)(i)-(iii) (2006), with respect to acts occurring

before June 18,2008, tlnd for Dorielly's violations of Sections 4b(a)(1)(A)-(C) of the Act as

amended by the CRA, to bc eodified at 7 U.S.C. §§ 6b(a)(l )(A)-(C), with respect to acts

occurrng on or after June 18,2008, pursuant to Section 2(a)(.)(B) of 
the Act, 7 U.S.c. §

2( a)( 1 )(B) (2006).

.15.
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56. Each misrepresentation or omission ofrnaterial fact, issuance ofa false statement

or report, and misappropriation, including but not limited to those specifically alleged herein, is

alleged as a separate and distinct violation of Sections 4b(a)(2)(i)-(iii) of thc Act, 7 U.S.C.

§§ 6b(a)(2)(i)-(iii) (2006), with respect to acts occurring before June 18, 2008, and Sections

4b(a)(l)(A)-(C) of the Act as amended by the CRA, to be codified at 7 U.S ,C. §§ 6b(a)(l)(A)-

(C), with respect to acts occurrng on or after June l8, 2008.

COUNT TWO

Fraud By Commodity Pool Operator

(Violations of Section 4.Q.(1)(A) & (B) of the Act, 7 U.S.c. § 6Q(1)(A) & (8) (2006))

57. Paragraphs 1 through 56 are realleged and incorporated herein.

58. Commencing in at least September 2000 and continuing through the present,

Donnelly acted as a CPO for the pool by soliciting, accepting Or receiving funds from others and

èngaging in a business that is of the nature of an investment trut, syndicate, or similar form of

enterprise, for the purpose oftrading in commodities for future delivery on or subject to the rules

of a contract market.

59. As aUeged above, during the relevant period, Donnelly employed a device,

scheme or arifice to defraud prospectivc and existing pool parcipants, or engaged in a

transaction, praeticc or course ofbusiness that operated as a fraud or deceit upon prospeeti ve and

existing pool participants in violation of Sections 4.Q(1)(A) & (B) of 
the Act, 7 U.S.C. §§

6Q(l)(A) & (B) (2006), by (1) omitting material information, including the fact that he was

misappropriating pool participant fuds; (2) falsely representing that he was generating profits

from his lrading on behalf of the pool and pool participants; (3) issuing or causing to be issued

false account statements and report reflecting positive returns forJhe pool and increases in the

-16-
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value ofjndividual pool paricipants' interests; (4) misappropriating pool participant funds by

using such funds to pay prineipal and purported returns 10 other pool participants; and (5)

misappropriating pool participant funds to pay business expenses and for personal use.

60. Donnelly was acting as an agent of Tower Analysis when he violated the Act and,

therefore, Tower Analysis, as Donnelly's principal, is liable for Donnelly's violations of Sections

4Q(l)(A) & (B) of the Aet, 7 U.S.C. §§ 6Q(1)(A) & (B) (2006), pursuant to Section 2(a)(l)(B) or

the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 2(a)(l)(B) (2006).

61. Donnelly was acting as an agent ofNasco Tang when he violated the Act and,

therefore, Nasco Tang, as Donnelly's principal, is liable for Donnelly's violations of Sections

4Q(1)(A) & (B) of the Act, 7 V.S.C. §§ 6Q(1)(A) & (B) (2006), pursuanllo Section 2(a)(1)(8) of

the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 2(a)(1)(B) (2006).

62. Donnelly was acting as an agent of Nadia Capital when he violated the Act and,

therefore, Nadia Capital, as Donnelly's principal, is liable for Donnelly's violations of 
Sections

4Q(l)(A) & (B) of the Act, 7 V.S.c. §§ 6Q(l)(A) & (B) (2006), pursuanl to Section 2(a)(1)(B) of

the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 2(a)(1)(B) (2006).

63. Each misrepresentation or omission of materil fact, issuance of a false statement

or report, and misappropriation, including but not limited to those specifically alleged herein, is

alleged as a separate and distinct violation of Sections 4Q(1 )(A) & (B) of the Act, 7 U.S.C.

§§ 6Q(1)(A) & (B) (2006).

COUNT THREE

Failure to Register As a Commodity Pool Operator

(Violation of 
Section 4m(I) of the Act, 7 u.s.c. § 6m(l))

64. Paragraphs 1 through 48 are realleged and incorporated herein.

-17-
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65. Section 4m(1) of the Act, 7 V.S.c. § 6m(l) (2006), provides that it is unlawful for

any CPO, unless registered under the Act, to make use of the mails ()T any means or

instruentality of interstate commcrce in connection with his business as a CPO.

66. As alleged, during the relevant period, Donnelly acted as a CPO within tlc

meaning of Section la(S) ofthc Act, 7 U.S.C. § la(5) (2006), and has used the mails or

instrumentalities of intcrstate commerce in or in connection with a commodity pool as a CPO

while failing to register as a CPO, in violation of Seciion 401(1) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6m(l)

(2006).

67. Doiinelly was acting as an agent of Tower Analysis, Nasca Tang and Nadia

Capital, when he violatcd thc AcL and, therefore, Tower Analysis, Nasco Tang and Nadia

Capital, as Donnelly's principals, arc liable for Donnelly's violation ofScclion 4m(1) of the Act,

7 U.S.C. § 6m(l) (2006), pursuant to Section 2(a)(1)(B) ofthc ACi, 7 U.S.C. § 2(a)(1 )(B) (2006).

VL RELrEF

WHEREFORE, the Commission respectfully requcsts that the Court, as authorized by

Section 6c of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13a-l (2006), and pursuant to its own eqlLltable powers, enter:

(a) an order finding that Defendants violated: Sections 4b(a)(2)(i)-(iii) of 
the Act, 7

V.S.c. §§ 6b(a)(2)(i)-(iii) (2006); Sections 4b(a)(l)(A)-(C) of the Act as amended by the CRA, to

be codified at 7 U.S.c. §§ 6b(a)(1)(A)-(C); Sections 4Q(l)(A) &(B), 7 U.S.C. §§ 6g.()(A) & (B)

and 4m(1) ofthc Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6m(1) (2006);

(b) an order of 
permanent injunction prohibiting Defendants, and any other person or

entity associated with them. including any successor thereof, from engaging in conduct violative

of the sections of the Act that the Defendants have been alleged to have violated;

-I g.
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(c) an order of permanent injunction prohibiting Defendants from engaging, diæctly

or indirectly, in any activity related to trading in any commodity, as that term is defined in

Seetion la(4) or the Act, 7 U.S.C. § la(4) (2006) ("commodity intcresi"), including but not

limited to, the following:

1. trading on or subject to the roles of any registered entity, as tht

ter is defined in Section la(29) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § la(29) (2006);

2. engaging in, controlling or directing the trading for any

commodity interest account for or 011 behalf of any other person or entity, whether by power of

attorney or otherwise;

3. soliciting or accepting any funds from any person in connection

with the purchase or sale of any commodity interest;

4. tntering into any commodity interest transactions for his own

personal account, for any account in which he has a direct or indirect interest and/or having any

commodity interests traded on his behalf; and

5. engaging in any business activities related to commodity interest

trading.

(d) an order of 
permanent injwiction from applying for registration or claiming

exemption from registration wiLh the Commission in any capacity, and engaging in any activity

requiring such registration or exemption from registation with the Commission, except as

provided for in Commission Regulation 4. 14(a)(9), t 7 C.F.R. § 4. 14(a)(9) (2008), or acting as a

principal, agent or any other offcer or employee of any person registered, ex.empted from

registration or required to be registered with the Conunission, except as provided for in

Commission Regulation 4.14(a)(9), 17 C.F.R. § 4. 14(a)(9) (2008);

-19-
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(c) an order directing Defendants, as well as any other person or entity associated

with them, including any succcssor thereof, to disgorge, pursuant to such procedure as the Court

may order, all benefits received from the acts or practices which constitute violations of the Act,

as described herein, and interest thereof from the datc of such violations;

. (f) an order directing Defendants, as well as any other person or entity associated

with them, including any successor thereof, to make full restitution, pursuant to such procedure as

the Court may order, to every pool paricipant whose funds wcrc reccived by them as a result of

acts and practices which constitute violations of the Act, as described hercin, and interest thereon

from the date of such violations;

(g) an order requiring Defendants to pay civil moneta penalties under the Act, to be

assessed by the Cour, in amounts of not more than the higher of (1) triple the monetary gain to

Defendants for each violation of the Act or (2) $llO,OOO for each violation of the Act on or

before October 22,2000, $120,000 for each violation of the Act on October 23,2000 through

October 22,2004, $130,000 for eaeh violation of the Act on October 23,2004 through October

22,2008, and $ 140,000 for each violation of the Act on or after October 23,2008; and

II

II

II

II

/1

/1

II

II
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(h) an order for such other and furter rcmcdial ancillary relief as the Court may deem

appropriate.

March 1L 2009

Respectfully submitted,

PLAINTIFF UNiTED STATES COMMODITY
FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION

By: Christine RyaLL

Chief Trial Attorney
cryall§efic.gov
(Fla. Bar #0983550)

Eugene Smith

Senior Trial Attorney
esmith($cftc.gov

Paul Hayeck
Associate Director

phayeck~cfic.gov

Division of Enforcement
Commodity Futures Trading Commission
1155 21 st Street, N. W.
Waslungton, D.C. 20581
Phone (202) 418-5000
Facsimile (202) 418-5523
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